
UNITED NATIONS 

(~\ ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL 
1227th meeting 

Wednesday, 18 July 1962 
at 3.15 p.m. \ml Thirty-fourth session 

~~ OFFICIAL RECORDS 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 2: 
World economic trends 

General debate (continued) . 

President: Mr. J. MICHALOWSKI (Poland). 

Present: 

Page 

139 

Representatives of the following States: Australia, 
Brazil, Colombia, Denmark, El Salvador, Ethiopia, 
France, India, Italy, Japan, Jordan, Poland, Senegal, 
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, United Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States 
of America, Yugoslavia. 

Observers for the following Member States: Argentina, 
Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Central African 
Republic, Cuba, Czechoslovakia, Dominican Republic, 
Greece, Hungary, Indonesia, Iraq, Ireland, Israel, Mali, 
Netherlands, New Zealand, Romania, Sweden. 

Observers for the following non-member States: 
Federal Republic of Germany, Holy See, Republic of 
Korea, Switzerland. 

Representatives of the following specialized agencies: 
International Labour Organisation, Food and Agricul
ture Organization of the United Nations, United Nations 
Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Inter
national Monetary Fund, Interim Commission for the 
International Trade Organization. 

AGENDA ITEM 2 

World economic trends (E/3624 and Add.1-6, E/3628, 
E/3629, E/3631 and Add.1-3, E/3635, E/3652, E/3659 
and Add.1 and 2, E/3661, E/3668; E/ECE/452) 

GENERAL DEBATE (continued) 

1. Mr. KLUTZNICK (United States of America) said 
that an increasing rate of industrial growth had a vital 
role to play in the process of accelerating economic 
development. 
2. The World Economic Survey, 1961 (E/3624 and 
Add.l-6), presented, in Part I, a large body of statistical 
material and drew important practical conclusions, based 
on experience, which should be helpful to countries in 
planning their industrial development. Moreover, it recog
nized that the economic development process was com
plex and not capable of explanation by a simple theory 
of economic history. 
3. The goal of economic development was the welfare 
and dignity of all mankind, and to that end, steps should 

139 

PALAIS DES NATIONS, GENEVA 

be taken to foster economic and social institutions which 
gave human beings as much freedom of choice as pos
sible and, while promoting their material welfare, would 
also provide adequate educational opportunities and 
sufficient leisure time for recreational and cultural activi
ties. Moreover the attainment of higher rates of eco
nomic growth should not be sought through the estab
lishment of political, economic and social systems which 
militated against their achievement. Nor should present 
generations of human beings be required, for the ques
tionable benefit to be derived by generations yet unborn, 
to reduce too much their present low consumption levels 
for the purpose of creating the margin of investment 
which might be necessary if economic growth were forced 
to proceed at too rapid a rate. 

4. The fact that economic development implied a bal
ance between industry and agriculture did not mean that 
there was any single economic pattern which all develop
ing countries should copy. Wise country planning for 
industrial growth must in general be based on the exist
ing but not unalterable resource pattern of the country 
concerned and economic, political and social institutions. 
Crucial in that respect, particularly in the early stages of 
industrial development, should be the consideration of 
a country's natural resources and its pool of skilled 
manpower. Both skills and physical resources could be 
imported. However, since the process of economic growth 
would inevitably increase the strain on the foreign 
exchange resources of the developing countries, such 
resources should be husbanded as much as possible. 

5. It was sometimes forgotten that the industrial revolu
tion in the west had occurred in extremely favourable 
circumstances; the stock of capital resulting from com
mercial operations had been one very important factor, 
and the spirit of entrepreneurship born of commercial 
experience another. The development of science and 
inventions was also important. Moreover, political and 
economic liberalism encouraged risk taking. The indus
trial revolution had, in short, been an evolutionary pro
cess based on favourable political, economic and social 
institutions and facilities. In many of the emerging eco
nomies those favourable circumstances were absent. Many 
of the developing countries were obliged to create institu
tions and attitudes favourable to growth by an act of 
national will and commitment. The Latin American 
countries were showing the way by their common agree
ment to institute the economic and social reforms neces
sary to promote economic growth and to spread its 
benefits to all elements of their populations. 

6. His country had always recognized that capital alone 
was not enough in the developing countries, and had 
therefore stressed technical assistance in its bilateral pro-

E/SR.l227 



140 Economic and Social Council - thirty-fourth session 

grammes and consistently supported multilateral efforts 
of the same general nature. But only recently had it 
come to recognize that the advantages of aid could be 
dissipated if the recipient country had a social system 
which was inadequate for a modem industrialized society 
and which channelled the benefits of economic growth 
to the few rather than the many. 

7. The United States had found that agricultural and 
land reform was a necessary precondition to the improve
ment · of agriculture in the developing countries. Yet in 
that field too, such improvement could not be achieved 
by means of capital alone. Most economic planners 
recognized that it was a mistake, in the early years of 
economic development planning, to let agriculture take 
care of itself, and to concentrate on planning for invest
ment in industry, and especially heavy industry. The 
majority of countries took a more balanced view of de
velopment, and now recognized that there were many 
roads to economic growth. It was very often desirable 
to devote attention first to light industry, producing con
sumer goods for the home market in substitution for 
products which would otherwise be imported. The statis
tical evidence presented in the Survey seemed to support 
the view that countries in the earlier stages of develop
ment had learnt that lesson. The ature thinking of the 
Asian countries at the eighteenth session of ECAFE 
held at Tokyo in March 1962 had been reflected by their 
willingness to emphasize the real possibilities for growth 
in agriculture, light industry and in. small-scale industry. 
The Survey reflected a similar balanced focus. 

8. Although many industries were necessarily large
scale, it was a fallacy to argue that all industry must be 
on a large scale; in Denmark, for example, 62 per cent 
of all industrial employment was accounted for by estab
lishments employing less than 5 persons. Moreover, 
it was often the small plant which was of key importance 
in the development of an industrial complex within which 
industries tended to prosper. There was also evidence 
that in all the industrialized countries, with the possible 
exception of the special case of Japan, small plants might 
be just as efficient as large ones. In short, all available 
evidence seemed to support the conclusion of the Secre
tariat that industrial growth consisted as much in the 
multiplication of small factories as in the formation of 
large ones. 

9. The greatest possibilities for mutually profitable trade 
were found in countries with fairly diversified economies. 
Moreover, it was in those countries that international 
specialization promoted the greatest economic progress 
as was demonstrated by the effects of progressively 
liberalized trade among the diversified private enterprise 
nations. However, specialization was important to the 
economic growth, and especially the industrialization, 
of the developing countries. Export earnings were, in a 
sense, the key to the whole problem of economic growth, 
and without them, there was little hope of starting the 
kind of chain reaction which could result in sustained 
growth. 

10. Economic planning, properly conceived, could be of 
great help in ensuring a better allocation of resources 
for industrialization. That process, however, was not 
automatic, since all that sound planning could do was to 

throw light on the choice open to entrepreneurs and 
others, and to ensure that decisions were based upon 
information. The limitations of central planning had 
become clear even in the countries practising that system, 
in which numerous references were made to decentrali
zation of planning, and reports on the effectiveness of 
decentralization under the central planning concept were 
eagerly awaited. 

11. The experience of his country suggested that the role 
of private enterprise was of key importance in allocating 
resources, and transferring and developing entrepre
neurial skills. It was untrue that reliance on private en
terprise and the appropriate use of planning were mutual
ly exclusive, since as much planning took place in the 
United States as in any country. But it was not only the 
government, but business and industry too that planned 
freely and to the full extent. Moreover, other countries, 
including some whose leaders had expressed a socialist 
view of life, were finding that the private sectors of their 
economies developed more rapidly and were more 
effective in satisfying human wants than their public 
sectors. There was therefore an increasing tendency in 
those countries, in their more recent planning documents, 
to give due recognition to the place which private enter
prise could and must play. 

12. The record of the past ten years was one from which 
a moderate degree of satisfaction and encouragement 
could be derived. However, most of the developing 
countries were still much too heavily dependent upon 
agricultural and mineral production; their industrial 
sectors had to grow even more rapidly if they were to 
sight their goal of a modern diversified economy. 

13. Monetary and financial conditions had improved 
considerably in many countries; that meant that trade, 
savings and investments could proceed in a much more 
orderly way than had been possible a decade or so pre
viously. It also meant a reduction in the personal in
equities which inevitably accompanied monetary confu
sion. A further source of satisfaction was the increasing 
degree to which countries were willing to work together 
to their mutual economic advantage. Such co-operation 
was conspicuous in the case of GATT, IMF and IBRD. 
Moreover, the various organizations and programmes, 
formal and informal, for transferring the " know-how" 
of economic advancement between countries, were 
operating at a higher rate than ever before. 

14. With regard to developments during the preceding 
year, it was not surprising that the pace of economic 
expansion had slackened somewhat in western Europe 
and Japan, in view of the very rapid advances made 
during the previous few years. Experience had shown that 
rapidly advancing economies required a pause from time 
to time to consolidate their gains and prepare for new 
upward movements. The underlying possibilities for 
further expansion continued to exist in Japan and parti
cularly in western Europe. In all economies, whether free 
enterprise or centrally planned, lack of balance or an 
uneven curve upward might be as much a stimulant to 
future growth as an apparent balance or constant upward 
curve. The key problem was to make sure of the goal 
and to keep pace with the needs of the hour. No amount 
of advance planning would make it possible to foresee the 



1227th meeting - 18 July 1962 141 

variables which inevitably arose in any given period. But 
that did not detract from the importance of the attempts 
being made in all industrial countries to smooth out the 
ups and downs in business activity. 

15. One of the most important goals of economic plan
ning in the United States, as in all other industrialized 
countries, was to avoid the kinds of depressions which 
had occurred with distressing frequency prior to the 
Second World War. The economic recovery in the United 
States which had started in February 1961 had continued, 
and a steady expansion of output and employment, 
accompanied by general price stability, had been achieved. 
Underlying that dominant trend was the continuing long
term increase in labour productivity and in the coverage 
of social welfare programmes. The principal challenge to 
the United States economy on the domestic front was 
continued expansion to full production levels and the 
achievement of a stable balance at those levels. 

16. Since February 1961 important gains had been recor
ded by all important economic indicators. The unem
ployment rate had dropped from 6.9 per cent in the first 
quarter of 1961 to 5.5 per cent in June 1962. The strongest 
element in the recovery had been and continued to be 
consumer expenditures. Consumer liquidity had been 
greatly increased and would allow consumer purchases 
to be maintained for a time even if the current rate of 
expansion were reduced or arrested. Business investment 
had expanded less rapidly than had been initially expec
ted, and excess capacity was still fairly widespread. 
Residential construction had expanded as a result of 
growing incomes and easy mortgage credit. Federal 
Government expenditures had also expanded during the 
recovery period, owing partially to efforts to strengthen 
the economy but largely to the expansion of existing 
or new permanent programmes. Monetary and credit 
conditions continued to be strongly favourable to expan
sion, and wholesale prices had remained steady since 
1958. 

17. The long-term outlook for the United States economy 
was most encouraging. With few exceptions, supplies 
of natural resources and raw materials were relatively 
abundant; its productive potential ensured that resource 
deficits could be met through foreign trade and its in
creasing population provided an ever-growing market for 
the products of the world and an ever-expanding reser
voir of productive skills and abilities. Through the expan
sion of educational, health and welfare programmes a 
steady reduction was being achieved in the proportion 
of the population that failed to contribute to the expan
sion of the United States economy and to share in the 
fruits of that expansion. 

18. The New York Stock Exchange had been a focus 
of national and international economic attention in recent 
weeks; the high levels of equity prices reached in the 
winter of 1961-62 had undoubtedly been based upon 
expectations of continued inflation, as well as exaggerated 
views of the earning possibilities, over the near term, 
of some companies in the so-called growth industries. 
At the peak of the market, dividend yields had been 
considerably below interest rates on bonds, and ear
nings on stocks had been only slightly above bond 
yields. However, the general realization that inflation 

had been brought under control and that the larnings 
of the growth industries were not growing at the expected 
rate had inevitably produced an adjustment of equity 
prices. Nevertheless, no systematic relation between con
sumer buying and stock prices could be found in the 
post-war period, nor could any reliable connexion be made 
between stock prices and the general level of economic 
activity. It therefore seemed wisest to interpret the stock 
market decline as the adjustment of inflationary expecta
tions to non-inflationary reality. 

19. Many problems still faced the United States economy. 
The Government and the people were not satisfied with 
the rate of economic growth, and the economy had not 
been expanding rapidly enough to achieve the goal of 
full employment, although each month seemed to record 
new peaks in the numbers employed. Such unemployment 
was wasteful and involved economic and social costs 
which affected the individuals concerned, their families, 
and society as a whole. The President had proposed 
changes in .the tax structure which, it was believed, would 
increase the rate of business investment. The adminis
tration had also taken steps to modernize depreciation 
allowances with the same purpose in view. Moreover, 
a lively economic debate was taking place on the desir
ability of a reduction in taxes; the position of the Govern
ment continued to be one of watchful waiting. 

20. Open public discussion between labour, management 
and the Government concerning the best road to con
tinued economic strength and progress epitomized the 
true democratic process. The real problem was to make 
sure enough wealth was generated, not just for the 
United States but also to help meet the needs of growing 
populations abroad. With 6 per cent of the world's 
population, the United States produced nearly 40 per cent 
of the world's output. The economic strength of the 
United States was important to the prosperity of the 
world in general, and its recent economic recovery had 
been accompanied by a substantial increase in imports, 
which were running at an annual rate of some $16,000 
million. 
21. The strength of the United States also enabled it 
to continue its contributions to the economic development 
of the less developed countries through private invest
ment and through bilateral aid programmes, as well as 
by contributions to multilateral programmes of financial 
aid and technical assistance. The trade policy projected 
in the President's request for a trade expansion act 
in 1962 revealed a determination to use the economic 
strength of the United States for the benefit of all in 
a massive attempt to establish in the major producing 
and consuming areas of western Europe and North 
America, a low tariff regime as free as possible of barriers 
to trade. The President's proposal had been approved 
by the House of Representatives without substantial 
change and was now being considered in the Senate. 

22. Mr. WALKER (Australia) recalled that the annual 
United Nations World Economic Survey was the successor 
to a series of similar surveys produced by the Secre
tariat of the League of Nations, the first of which bore 
the different but significant title "The Course and Phases 
of the World Economic Depression ". The dominant 
problem of economic policy in the 1930s had been to 



142 Economic and Social Council - thirty-fourth session 

promote recovery from the depression, which had shaken 
the economic systems of many countries to their founda
tions, and to prevent the repetition of a similar economic 
catastrophe. · 

23. The Surveys published by the United Nations 
undoubtedly reflected an important change in the world 
economic scene in that they were no longer concerned 
to the same extent to take the pulse of the current econo
mic situation. The world was no longer haunted by the 
fear of recurring major depressions. There was still 
the problem of recurring recessions but that change 
in terminology was not purely a matter of words. The 
process by which an economic recession could perpetuate 
itself and degenerate into a serious depression was now 
well understood and governments had both knowledge 
and experience of measures to prevent the cumulative 
growth of unemployment. Moreover, there was a firm 
tradition of mutual international assistance supported 
by such institutions as IMF. 
24. The centre of interest had shifted from the problem 
of short-period fluctuations to that of continuous eco
nomic growth. For the less developed countries, the 
immediate problem was to bring about the necessary 
structural changes that would set in train the process 
of self-sustaining economic growth, such as that which 
the industrialized countries had known over a very 
extended period. In the major industrialized countries, 
however, the maintenance of steady economic growth 
had also emerged as a prime object of government 
policy and as the objective of private enterprise. 

25. The basic reason for that interest in the problem 
of growth was that only through economic growth could 
countries support increasing populations and provide in
creases in real incomes which were in turn the sources of 
higher levels ofliving. Moreover, co tinuous growth made 
less difficult the solution of other problems. In that 
connexion he would draw attention to the statement 
in the introduction to the Survey (E/3624) that " recent 
economic events in western Europe offer striking testi
mony to the fact that problems of adjustment to changing 
circumstances can be overcome with relative ease so long 
as they are encountered in conditions of sustained 
economic growth ". 
26. With regard to the conditions affecting growth in 
the developed private enterprise economies, the introduc
tion to the Survey contained a particularly striking 
passage which stressed that " the policies of greatest 
significance for the industrial growth in the developed 
private enterprise economies have not been measures 
designed to alter the structure of industrial production 
or to accelerate growth in specific industries " but that 
it had been rather " those monetary and fiscal policies 
of a general nature which have affected the rate of growth 
in aggregate demand". He would draw particular atten
tion to the statements contained in the remainder of 
that paragraph and the following paragraph. 
27. In the less developed countries, the problem of 
maintaining growth was much more complicated because 
it required, in addition to the maintenance of a strong 
effective demand, far-reaching structural economic 
changes and, very often, important social changes as 
well. As the representative of India had pointed out at 

the 1226th meeting the economic growth of an under
developed country was not merely a matter of obtaining 
better results but had to be accompanied by changes 
in social and economic institutions to obtain wider and 
deeper social values. 
28. In most countries, foreign trade played an important 
role in growth. In the developing countries, domestic 
capital formation needed to be supplemented by the 
importation of foreign capital goods and the export 
trade of those countries was v\tally important as a source 
of foreign exchange with which to pay for the imports 
of capital goods. But in developing and highly developed 
countries alike, export trade played a further role in 
generating incomes and purchasing power within the 
country. Consequently, a healthy export trade helped 
to maintain domestic conditions necessary for continued 
growth. 
29. The reliance upon international trade to supply 
some of the essential requirements for economic growth 
brought with it special balance-of-payments problems. 
Adverse movements in a country's balance of payments 
could reduce the level of effective demand within the 
country and upset expectations of economic growth. 
At the same time, such an adverse movement often 
made it necessary to cut down imports of goods needed 
for development. 
30. Those considerations showed the great importance 
for the maintenance of economic growth both of measures 
to prevent undue fluctuations in commodity prices, which 
were often at the root of balance-of-payments problems, 
and of international arrangements to tide countries over 
temporary difficulties. 
31. More recently, attention had been given to another 
factor that could contribute to the avoidance of balance
of-payments difficulties. Any deficit in the balance of 
payments in one country had as its counterpart a surplus 
in the balance of payments of other countries. The 
danger that the maintenance by one country of domestic 
conditions favourable to rapid economic growth would 
lead that country into balance-of-payments difficulties 
would be diminished if its trading partners were also 
following a policy of rapid growth. Hence the importance 
of concerted growth policies, such as those declared by 
the OECD countries in 1961 and referred to at the 
1226th meeting by the Under-Secretary for Economic 
and Social Affairs. 
32. There were four important structural changes in the 
world economy. The first was the increase since the 
Second World War in the number of centrally-planned 
economies, which had removed a substantial sector of 
the economic life of the world from the system of inter
related markets. 
33. The world economy had for long been mainly a 
private enterprise economy, but that term no longer 
perfectly described the nature of the national economies 
that made up the world economy outside the planned 
economies. In most countries, the system was a mixed 
one, with an important nationalized sector and a con
siderable degree of government control over the private 
enterprise sector. There remained, however, a clear 
division between those mixed economies and the fully 
planned economies; in fact, they constituted two eco-



1227th meeting- 18 July 1962 143 

nomic worlds which often confronted similar fundamental 
economic problems but which operated on different 
principles. 

34. There was of course a certain amount of trade be
tween the two economic worlds but there were great 
difficulties in the development of a closer association 
between them not only because they represented rival 
political and economic systems but because they con
ducted trade on different principles. The trading system 
of the mixed private enterprise economies was a multi
lateral trading system. The GATT, the Contracting Par
ties to which accounted for 78 per cent of world trade 
- 83 per cent if associated countries were taken into 
account - envisaged a system which would offer its 
members free access to one another's markets, subject 
only to the customs tariff through the most-favoured
nation rule. There were exceptions to that general rule 
such as protection against dumping and against sub
sidized exports, but they were carefully hedged around 
with safeguards. The GATT system could be summarized 
as comprising three principles: first, that trade should 
be conducted on the basis of non-discrimination; second, 
that domestic industries should be protected exclusively 
through the customs tariff and, third, that there should 
be consultation between contracting parties aimed at 
avoiding damage to the trading interests of all contracting 
parties. He was, of course, describing the GATT rules 
and not the manner in which they were, or were not, 
fully observed, particularly regarding access of primary 
products to the markets of certain highly industrialized 
countries. 

35. That multilateral system was clearly very different 
from the trading system of the centrally planned eco
nomies. Import policy in those economies was part of a 
general plan, which allocated to the import sector only 
that part of consumption which could not be met by 
planned domestic production. There was therefore no 
possibility of foreign exporters competing on equal terms 
with domestic producers in the centrally planned eco
nomies on the basis of quality and price. Moreover, 
through the Council for Mutual Economic Aid (CMEA), 
there was a certain co-ordination between the centrally 
planned economies which involved agreements for trade 
exchanges. The sector of trade which could be left open 
to foreign exporters, therefore, tended to be residual to 
domestic production and imports under the aegis of 
CMEA. Even in that residual sector, however, it seemed 
that the volume of trade was not subject to the play of 
market forces so much as to administrative and govern
mental decisions, many of which might appear arbitrary 
to outside suppliers. He was not criticizing the system, 
but merely describing the existing position. 

36. The prices of exports from centrally planned eco
nomies could also present a problem for other countries. 
The normal elements of price formation in a planned 
economy were difficult for foreigners to establish and it 
was therefore difficult to apply to exports from centrally 
planned economies the normal anti-dumping provisions 
of legislation in the free-enterprise countries, which re
quired the establishment of a recognizable cost of pro
duction. 

37. Trade between the two economic worlds was cur-

rently largely carried out through bilateral agreements. 
No very great difficulties had resulted because the trade 
involved had been somewhat marginal in volume. That 
position could change if a greatly increased share of 
world trade came to be enjoyed by the centrally planned 
economies; if and when that problem came to be faced, 
solutions should not be sought in a departure from the 
existing system of the greater part of world trade with 
its emphasis upon multilateral non-discrimination. 

38. The second important development had.been regional 
integration, which was well advanced in western Europe 
and in eastern Europe and was getting under way in Latin 
America. Regional integration in western Europe had 
already brought about appreciable economic benefits and 
economic co-operation of that type was likely to be 
beneficial elsewhere. 

39. Regional integration normally began with the grant
ing of what was, in effect, a mutually preferential system 
among the members and if that integration were carried 
on in an inward-looking spirit it could result in great 
economic damage to outside countries and in the ultimate 
breakdown of progress within the integrated group itself. 
Australia, a country which did not readily fall into any 
possible regional grouping, attached great importance to 
the assurances by spokesmen of existing groupings that 
they would follow outward-looking policies and that 
there would be opportunities for increased trade with 
the outside world. 

40. The third development had been the effects of the 
national agricultural policies - particularly in the highly 
industrialized countries - on international trade and the 
resulting difficulties for many primary producing coun
tries. Agriculture in many countries had become insulated 
from the world economy and powerful social and political 
forces had become involved in the situation and were 
determined to defend it. 

41. The trend to agricultural protectionism had a pro
found effect on the volume of international trade in 
primary products. The problem could not be evaded 
indefinitely. Among other considerations, the world could 
ill afford to discourage efficient low-cost producers at a 
time of explosive population growth. 

42. The growth of regional trading groups and agricul
tural protection by industrialized countries had had the 
important consequence of reducing the size of the so
called world market on which the agricultural exporters 
attempted to sell their produce. That market accounted, 
in most of the bulk commodities, for only a very small 
part of world production: 5 per cent for feed grains, 
10 per cent for beef or butter, 12 per cent for sugar and 
15 per cent for wheat. The so-called world price of many 
agricultural products was accordingly depressed and had 
increasingly less relationship either to the cost of produc
tion in efficient primary producing countries or to the 
prices actually paid to the agricultural producers in the 
industrialized countries through various protectionist 
devices. 

43. The fourth important change in the world economy 
had been the drive for industrialization in the developing 
countries, a process to which the Survey devoted a tho
rough study. One of the most remarkable features of the 



144 Economic and Social Council - thirty-fourth session 

Survey was the presentation as inevitable of the trend 
for the economies of different cou tries to move towards 
a similar structure. 

44. The ultimate aim of the under-developed countries 
should be to constitute diversified economies similar 
to those existing in the developed countries. The accep
tance of that idea, as expressed in the Survey, presented 
a remarkable contrast with the economic thinking prior 
to the Second World War when it had been thought 
that some countries should concentrate on agricultural 
production and others on industrial production and that 
regional specialization could lift 1 vels of income effec
tively through foreign trade. Another consideration not 
emphasized in the Survey was that, without industriali
zation and diversification of the economy, the developing 
countries would lack the educational experience of 
working in industry and the stimulus to enterprise of a 
wide range of economic opportunities. 

45. That drive towards industrialization would be 
bound to have far-reaching consequences for internatio
nal trade. In that connexion, however, it was interesting 
to observe that industrial progress did not lead to the 
withering away of trade; in fact, a thriving international 
trade existed between the major industrialized countries 
as a result of a process of refined specialization. 

46. Lastly, he would reserve his delegation's right 
to revert to such questions as proposals for a world 
trade conference, to which he had not referred in his 
remarks. 

47. Mr. GUZINA (Yugoslavia), commending the au
thors of the World Economic Survey and of the regional 
surveys, said it, was a very good practice for the Survey 
to analyse one topical subject on a long-term basis each 
year; and the Survey for 1961 ably analysed industrial 
development during the 1950s. 

48. There were three very significant fields in which 
decisive progress had been made in economic thinking 
during the past decade; that progress was not only reflec
ted in United Nations documents: those documents had 
to a considerable extent contributed to it. 

49. The first of those salient features of economic think
ing was its predominant concern with economic growth. 
Economic dynamics in the form of analyses of longer
term trends were superseding the study of factors of 
static equilibrium and short-term cycles which had been 
the central interest of western economists almost up to 
1939. In that long-term analysis, the tempo of develop
ment had become the basic criterion of economic effi
ciency. 

50. That advance in economic thinking was of vital 
importance for the less developed countries. Economic 
growth, which paved the way for the modernization of 
other sectors of social life, was for those countries a 
prerequisite for the full assertion of their political inde
pendence. In the contemporary theory of economic 
growth, the development of the un er-developed countries 
had become a particularly promising field of study, to 
which chapter I of the Survey (E/3624/ Add.1) devoted to 
the results of industrial development in those countries 
constituted a valuable contribution. 

51. It was interesting to note that economists were 
increasingly realizing not only the necessity of a high rate 
of growth for the developing countries, but also the 
possibility of attaining it, provided the necessary steps 
were taken within those countries and organized inter
national assistance was available. The discussions in 
the Council (1214th-1219th meetings) on the Development 
Decade constituted the latest indication that those views 
were prevailing: it had been pointed out that the Decade's 
objective of a 5 per cent rate of growth in the national 
income of the developing countries represented a mini
mum. 

52. The second field in which progress had been made in 
economic thinking was that of planning economic and 
social development. The need for such planning had 
come to be generally recognized. The ideas of those who 
in the past had denied that a planned economy could 
function efficiently had been left far behind. Planning 
had strongly asserted itself in practice. At the same time, 
the concept of a planned economy had been better de
fined, with certain relaxations in the rigidity of centralism 
in planning and with recognition of the principle of free 
choice by the consumer. The great argument about the 
efficiency of a planned economy carried on by western 
economists during the 1920s and 1930s had been defi
nitely settled in favour of planning. 

53. Planning should at present be ap_Plied, and to some 
extent adapted, to different institutional frameworks and 
to different stages of economic and social development. 
In all cases, however, planning should comprise, in 
addition to a precise methodology, measures of imple
mentation. To an ever-increasing extent planning required 
appropriate institutional adaptations in the economy, 
without which it would remain purely theoretical. 

54. The third field in which economic thinking had ad
vanced and in which there was a greater measure of agree
ment was the pattern of economic development and the 
role of industrialization in economic and social develop
ment, a role which was appropriately stressed in the 
introduction to the Survey. It was now generally recog
nized that development must be co-ordinated, stable 
and balanced. 

55. However, obsolete views on economic and social 
development had not yet been completely overcome and 
to some extent they manifested themselves in the docu
ments on the Development Decade. The so-called bal
anced development of the under-developed countries 
sometimes served as a justification for an economic 
policy of slow growth which reflected the interests of 
only a part of the population. 

56. No one denied, for example, the importance of 
education and the training of personnel, or of the devel
opment of communications. But development, if it were 
to be balanced and at the same time as rapid as possible, 
must put industry in the forefront. 

57. It was clear that in an under-developed country 
priority must be given to the establishment of industry 
as a precondition for smooth and self-sustained growth. 
If the developing countries were to attain a diversified 
economy, it was essential for them to correct the present 
imbalance in their economy resulting from their low level 



1227th meeting- 18 July 1962 145 

of industrial development. In that connexion, the figures 
given in tables 1-5 in chapter I of the Survey showed that 
in the past decade the rate of industrial growth in the 
majority of the less developed countries had been higher 
than the rate of growth of the gross national product. 
58. The generally accepted model of economic growth 
based on the intensity of investment and its effectiveness 
led to the conclusion that the development of industry 
was vitally important for accelerated growth. Industry, as 
the most productive branch of the economy, increased 
a country's accumulation and investment capacity. 
It could be broadly said that the capital-formation ratio 
was in close correlation with the level of industrial 
development. 

59. Industrialization increased a country's capacity for 
capital formation and at the same time ensured the most 
effective use of capital, which was the scarcest factor in 
the development of the under-developed countries. 
60. The experience of Yugoslavia was particularly signi
ficant in regard to the importance of speedy industrial 
development. During the decade analysed in the Survey 
his country had increased its real national income two
fold. The basis for that rapid development had been 
provided by a rapid expansion of industry: in 1960 
industrial production had been four and one-half times 
larger than before 1939. That expansion of industry had 
not taken place at the expense of other sectors but had, 
on the contrary, contributed to their growth. Agricultural 
production, for example, showed in 1960 a 46 per cent 
increase over the pre-war average. Social services, such 
as education and health services, had also enormously 
expanded. 

61. The analyses in the Survey showed that one-sided 
specialization, which would rely on some kind of strict 
international division of labour, was impossible, and 
that diversified development, above all diversified de
velopment of industry, was necessary. The development 
of the capital- and intermediate producer-goods indus
tries was particularly important; it was precisely through 
those industries that the real capacity for capital forma
tion was increased. The analysis of trends in the indus
trially developed countries over the preceding decade 
contained in chapter II of the Survey (E/3624/ Add.2) 
clearly showed that those industries developed at a faster 
rate than industry as a whole. In Yugoslavia, for example, 
in the decade 1951-60, the consumer goods industry had 
increased 2.5 times, while the capital goods industry had 
increased 3.5 times. A somewhat similar process was 
apparent in such countries as India, Mexico and Brazil. 
The development of the capital- and intermediate pro
ducer-goods industries could also remedy the unfavour
able balance-of-payments position of the developing 
countries by reducing the need for imports. 

62. However, as the Survey rightly pointed out, for the 
less developed countries which had no industrial nucleus 
it might often be necessary to begin their industrializa
tion with those industries where the specific balance-of
payments problem could be solved with a minimum of 
funds. In the beginning, those industries need not always 
necessarily be the capital- and intermediate producer-goods 
industries. In that connexion, the importance of export 
industries should also not be underestimated, especially 

in those countries that had already reached a certain 
level of industrialization. 
63. In the light of the progress in economic thinking 
there was an obvious need for a strengthening, within 
the framework of the Development Decade, of interna
tional effort to provide international support for the 
endeavours of the less developed countries towards a 
speedy economic transformation. 
64. The suggested United Nations international trade 
conference would constitute one of the first contributions 
to the elimination of the difficulties in international eco
nomic relations which hampered the speedy economic 
transformation of the less developed countries. 

65. Mr. BROWN (International Confederation of Free 
Trade Unions), speaking at the invitation of the President, 
said that ICFTU had for several years been suggesting 
that an international conference on international trade 
problems should be convened. Although important work 
had been done in that field by various international 
bodies and even more important work was under way, 
it was disappointing to learn (E/3631 and Add.l-3) that 
many governments considered that, at that stage, an 
international conference might possibly endanger the 
pragmatic and expert approach which had prevailed so 
far. International trade developments in recent years 
showed clearly that the situation was growing worse; 
the terms of trade had become even more unfavourable 
for the under-developed countries, and competition be
tween industrial countries for markets had in some cases 
assumed a more threatening form. Moreover, the trend 
in the Soviet bloc towards autarky had been comple
mented by trade offensives directed mainly against some 
of the most vulnerable areas of the world market. 
66. It was therefore highly advisable to launch a new, 
all-out attack on world trade problems and to tackle 
those which could not be dealt with by existing inter
national machinery. The danger that an international 
conference might have adverse effects on the work already 
done or under way could be considerably reduced by 
careful preparatory work, which should resolve the tech
nical problems involved and inform world opinion about 
the tasks which the conference had to face. The pre
paratory work should further consist in the establish
ment of minimum rules of conduct in international trade, 
acceptance of which could reasonably be required of all 
States wishing to participate in the conference. Many 
disruptive practices should be identified, condemned and 
fought, especially if they affected the trade and develop
ment of underprivileged countries. Those practices in
cluded such methods as the breaking of multilateral 
agreements concluded in order to keep up the prices and 
to further the export of primary commodities. 
67. The main object of the conference would be a radical 
readjustment of world markets and trade policies to the 
newly emerging patterns of economic activity throughout 
the world. Special stress should be placed on the urgent 
need to utilize existing surpluses for basic needs, especially 
in the underprivileged countries. There were no real sur
pluses in a world where the majority lived in poverty 
and need. The problem was to channel the flow of goods 
which were in excess to those places where they were 
needed: an ever-greater proportion of exports should be 



146 Economic and Social Council - thirty-fourth session 

diverted from the old to the potentially new markets in 
developing countries. The task involved was tremendous, 
but could be carried out by making use of existing instru
ments of economic and trade policy, especially if the 
effort were associated with aid to the developing coun
tries and with private foreign investment. The result 
would be an expansion of international trade, to the 
advantage of the industrialized as well as the developing 
countries, which frequently encountered tremendous dif
ficulties in their attempts to obtain access to traditional 
markets in the industrialized countries for their new 
products. 

68. Special attention should be paid to the co-ordination 
and consolidation of existing activities pertaining to pri
mary commodities, and a clear distinction should b.e 
made between long-term and short-term price trends. 
As for the long-term tendency of primary commodity 
prices to decline, it was very important to distinguish 
between economic factors and the unfavourable bar
gaining position of the producers. The latter could be 
strengthened by suitable international trade policies. Com
parable policies to strengthen the bargaining position of 
agricultural producers in relation to big business had 
resulted in many industrial countries in the creation of 
what had been called the countervailing power. What 
ICFTU was proposing was the creation of a counter
vailing power at the international level. Yet at the inter
national level as at the national level, it was a matter of 
political, not of purely economic, decisions, because the 
objective was not increased profits but a more balanced 
world economy. The first prerequisite for the creation 
of such a countervailing power was a minimum harmo
nization of multilateral and bilateral trade agreements. 
The obvious lesson to be drawn from the operation of 

Printed in Switzerland 

the International Sugar and Tin Agreements was that 
effective countervailing power could not be built up 
without an extension of multilateral agreements to enable 
them to prevail over any single bilateral contract. The 
achievement of that goal also depended on political and 
not purely economic decisions. But whereas the estab
lishment of countervailing power against an economically 
unjustified decline in primary commodity prices called 
for a political decision on the part of wealthy industrial 
nations, the decisions pertaining to the extension of 
multilateral agreements and to the checking of possible 
adverse effects of the bilateral ones had to be taken by 
the exporting countries too. 
69. The same considerations applied to attempts at elimi
nating short-term fluctuations in primary commodity 
prices. Some progress towards a compensation scheme 
had recently been made, but progress was slow. The 
only way of accelerating the process was through the 
adoption of a series of predominantly political decisions 
by the importing and exporting countries. 
70. Since mainly political decisions were needed and 
since success depended largely on the simultaneous adop
tion of a wide range of very different but carefully con
certed decisions by a great number of governments and 
international bodies, a well-prepared international con
ference appeared to be the most appropriate forum for 
that vitally important undertaking. The adoption of such 
decisions would be in the interest of the developed and 
less developed countries alike, would promote a healthy 
expansion of world trade and would reduce the ever
growing gap between the rich and the poor nations. 

The meeting rose at 5.55 p.m. 

13621--Septernber 1962--1,125 


